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FOREWORD

Our readers will regret to learn that Dr. VoGeL, the founder of the Kern Institute
and hitherto Chief-editor of the Annual Bibliography, after having maintained the high
scholarly standards of this publication in a stately row of no less than twelve volumes,
last year expressed the definite wish to be relieved from the chief-editorship and to
shift this task on to the shoulders of his junior colleagues in the board of editors.
This decision, naturally, has to be respected, the more so as it is engendered by the
wish of Dr. VogEL, in the coming years, to devote himself entirely to the study of
various subjects of his special archeological interest, the results of which may be
expected to stimulate antiquarian investigations in no less degree than was done by
his eminent work in connection with the Bibliography. Yet the present editors are
convinced that all readers of the Annual will only with the grea'test reluctance bid
farewell to Dr. VogeL as their faithful guide and that they wish to express their deep
gratitude to him, not only for having led them, during twelve years, with never failing
sureness, through the ever expanding domains of archaological literature, but also for
deeply impressing them with the feeling that all Greater Indian archeologists, what-
ever their speciality, belong to the same body of workers who by close co-operation
and mutual ﬁnderstanding alone may attain fruitful and lasting results. '

The present editors fully realize that the continuation of the work of Dr. VogeL
involves a heavy task which could not possibly be performed without the much valued
help of the same collaborators who, in previous years, readily have rendered their
assistance whenever it was called upon, either by contributing articles and photographs
giving an idea of the progress of archaological research in various quarters or by
supplying the necessary bibliographical notes. It is highly gratifying that for the present
volume also this assistance has been forthcoming from Dr. HIRANANDA SasTRI, Director
of Archzology, Baroda State, Dr. S. Parawavirana, Assistant to the Archeological
Commissioner, Ceylon, Mons. G. Captks, Directeur de I'Ecole frangaise d'Extréme-
Orient, Dr. W. F. SturTErnEIM, Director of Archaology, Netherlands India, Sir Richard
Bury, Dr. H. G. Quaritce WaLEs, and Dr. J. Pu. VocerL. Our sincere thanks are
due to these scholars for their valuable contributions to the Introduction. Likewise we
are indebted to Dr. Stefan Przeworskr of the University of Warsaw for providing us
with the titles of books and articles published in Poland and Russia; to Dr. B. C. Law
in regard to publications in Indian vernaculars; to Mr. N. L. Rao for sending us
abstracts of articles and books in South-Indian languages; and to Mr. R. J. Forses
who continued to supply us with data regarding the technical side of archaology.

We much regret to state that for this volume no contribution was received relating
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to the work of the Archaological Department in India, so that a serious gap in our
survey of antiquarian progress in the main region of Indian culture remains to be
filled. We hope to be able to do so in next year's issue.

Information regarding books and articles, published in Japan on Indian archzology,
which used to be supplied by Professor Fukusama, is likewise missing.

The collating and arranging of data of the bibliography proper was mainly
accomplished by Dr. A. J. Gorpurrr, Conservator of the Kern Institute, who has
earned our thanks for the thorough and painstaking manner in which he fulfilled his task.

We conclude this foreword by expressing the sincere hope that the political
circumstances which, at the present moment, impede all communication between the
belligerent nations, in future will not endanger the regular appearance and distribution
of this Bibliography. For archzology can thrive only in an atmosphere of peace,
where no hatred and envy exist between the peoples, but, on the contrary, a strong
need is felt to understand and appreciate what each civilization has contributed of its
own to the common heritage of mankind.

F. D. K. Boscu
N. J. Krom
J. H. Kramers
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INTRODUCTION
INDIA

NOTE ON AN IVORY STATUETTE FROM POMPEI

In October 1938 a discovery of unusual interest was made at Pompei by Professor
Amadeo Marturr, Superintendent of the Antiquities of Campania and Director of the
National Museum of Pompei and Ercolano. The learned world is greatly indebted to
the discoverer for the excellent account of his unique find which he published
very soon afterwards?®. With Professor MAIURT'S permission, we propose to reproduce
here the principal portions of his article in English translation together with some
additional observations which the reading of it has suggested.

In the corner of the colonnaded portico of a large private house facing the Via
dell’ Abbondanza a considerable number of small utensils of bronze, glass and terra-
cotta came to light, including an ivory statuette (height 24 centimeters) in which
Professor Malurt at once recognized a work of Indian art®. As this precious object,
owing to pressure, had been partly splintered into little fragments, it had first of all
to be restored. This task having been accomplished with the utmost care by the
expert, Signor Armando Mancini, it was found that fortunately only a few insignificant
portions of the statuette were missing.

It is noteworthy that from the top of the head a circular hole had been drilled
through the axis of the ivory figure to a depth at about a level with the loins. This
aperture was evidently intended to receive a metal pin which must have supported
either some sacred symbol or possibly a mirror or similar object of practical utility. The

1 Amadeo Ma1uri, Statuctta eburnea di arte indiana a Pompei (Le Ar#i, Rassegna bimestrale dell’Arte
Antica e Moderna a cura della Direzione Generale della Antichita e Belle Arti). Anno I, fasc. I, p. rr1—5.
Florence [1939].

2 See Plate I
Annual Bibliography, XIII I
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bottom surface of the object is inscribed with a sign W which bears some resemblance
to a #rismla, but may also represent the Kharoshthi letter §7. Professor MAIURI suggests
that this syllable might be an abbreviation of the name Siva, but as the statuette
does not represent this deity, he is more inclined to assume that the mysterious mark
merely indicates the maker of the object.

The female figure with its full forms and provoking sensuality is a typical product
of ancient Indian art: it recalls the well-known Yakshini figures of Bharhut, Sanchi
and Mathura. It is shown nude and standing with the legs crossed. The broad, full
face with large wide-open eyes, wide, fleshy mouth and round chin above soft, fat
throat is turned to the left and has an expression of happy, smiling sensuality and
triumphant carnal beauty. It has very full and almost spherical breasts prominent like
two enormous acorns, arched flanks, massive and heavy legs, scarcely incised with fat
folds at the knees; the foot is firmly fixed in a mortise of the base. The left hand
raises, so as to lighten its weight, one of the two heavy ear-pendants, incised with
Iozenge-shaped ornamentation, which are meant to hang down from the lobes of the
ear. The other hand, which is raised and turned behind the neck, is shown in the
act of supporting on her back a festoon of the rich necklace.

The statuette displays the most sumptuous and complicated adornment of jewelry
which up to the present has been encountered in Indian representations of the female
nude. The figure is naked but for a rich girdle from which on both sides the drapery
of a shawl (paridhana), perhaps of silk, descends. It is wearing the customary heavy
anklets and rows of rings which tightly enclose the ankles and lower legs, and bracelets
encasing the arms below the elbow. But the decoration of the head, chest and back,
is even more ostentatious and fanciful.

A heavy necklace consisting of a triple string of large pearls hangs down between
the breasts and ends below them in a pen_dant in the form of a lotus-flower. Above the
breasts this necklace is relieved by two projecting cylindrical ornaments which are
likewise derived from the floral forms of the lotus. The low forehead shows a large,
rosette-shaped ornament, perhaps a sacred symbol, between the sleek, parted hair. At
the back of the neck an enormous pin issues horizontally, like a large floral horn,
from the massive headdress. Finally two long festoons, the one resembling lotus-flowers
and the other palm-leaves, after having diadem-like encircled the head of the female,
descend over the shoulders down to the waist, forming as it were the twofold border
of a sumptuous and richly fringed hood, adorned with a large central rosette and with
bundles of lotus-flowers, so as entirely to cover the back of the figure down to the
hips and to the flat band of the girdle.

The two female attendants flanking the central personage, so as to produce the
aspect of a tricorporal figure, repeat faithfully but in the sharper and more rigid forms
of youth its type, features and costume. The artist has very ably flattened and
shortened the modelling of these attendants (the side and back views should be observed)
in order to reduce them to the mere function of caryatids without concealing or
minimizing the massive impression of the body of the central figure. This flattening
produces a delicious sensation of primitiveness, which, while weakening and suppressing
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the too daring sensuality of the main figure, associates the statuette from Pompei, at
least in this particular, with the finest traditions of Oriental ivories belonging to
Hittite and Assyro-Babylonian art.

The two attendants are shown in the function of maid-servants: the one holds
on the palm of the left hand, which is raised to the height: of the shoulder, a high
little casket of rectangular form, evidently meant for a box containing cosmetics or
toilet utensils. The other, placed symmetrically, supports two large pendants of spiral
shape which likewise must belong to the elaborate decoration of the central figure.

As regards the date to be assigned to the statuette, Professor MAturt remarks
that the circumstance of its having been found in the archzological stratum of Pompei
fixes the Zerminus ad guem at the year 79 A.p., when the eruption of the Vesuvius
took place, which caused the destruction of Pompei and Herculaneum. Less easy is it
to establish the Zferminus posi guem. Apart from the important finds recently made
by the French archazologists in Afghanistan, we possess no Indian ivories of an early
date. In India only some specimens of late medieval ait are known. For the sake of
comparison, we have therefore to resort to architectural and sculptural art. The Italian
scholar is of opinion that, on account of its crude realism, the statuette cannot
belong to the éuﬁga period but should be attributed to the first decennia of the
Kushana period. “In any case”, the author observes, “it is formally and stylistically a
pure product of Indian art without any Hellenistic influence, wholly foreign, also from
a religious point of view, to the Greaco-Buddhist art of Gandhara.”

This conclusion, in our opinion, should be accepted with a certain reserve. The
Pompei statuette is, indeed, typically Indian and there can be no doubt that it is the
work of an Indian damnfaghdiaka. But, on the other hand, if we compare it with the
earlier images in the round of the Maurya and Suﬁga periods, which are characterized
by a truly archaic style, it is difficult to account for the free realism of figures like
the present, without ascribing it to the vigorous influence of Hellenistic art. In
this respect we entirely agree with the observations made by the German scholar,
Dr. Albert IppeL, with reference to the Indian statuette from Pompei®.

There is yet another point in which we must confess our inability to follow
Professor Ma1turi, zzz. the identification of the ivory statuette with Lakshmi. Evidently
the Italian scholar has been led astray by Dr Coomaraswamy, who has recognized the
Indian goddess of Good Fortune in a female figure standing on a lotus and holding
a flower in her left hand. This graceful figure, which is also enveloped by flowering
lotus-plants on both sides and is accompanied by two miniature attendants, occupies
a medallion found on a railing pillar of Stiipa II at Sanchi® It seems to us that in
the case of the Sanchi medallion the ide,n,tity' with Lakshmi is very doubtful, although
the association of the personage with the lotus may be quoted in its favour. It will

L Jakrbuck des demtschen archaologischen Instituts, 1939, p. 371; Forschungen und Fortschritte, XV,
no. 26 (Sept. 1939), p. 325.

2 Cf. Sir John MarsHALL, 4 Guide to Sanchi (1918), pl. XIIIc: A, K. Coomaraswamy, Hist. of
Indian and Indonesian Art, pl. XIV, s5z.
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be remembered that a number of reliefs which at first sight would be taken for early
images of Sri have been explained by Mons. Foucner as symbolical representations
of the nativity of éikyamuni. It is well known that in Brahmanical iconography from
the Gupta period onwards Lakshmi is invariably characterized by the two miniature
elephants pouring water over the head of the goddess.

Now in the case of the Pompei ivory not only this cognizance is absent but also
the lotus-flower. In fact, there is no indication whatever that the central personage is
meant for Lakshmi or for any other goddess. What we see is a female scantily dressed
but sumptuously adorned who is engaged in completing her toilet with the aid of two
maid-servants. It is a subject not unknown in Indian art. We may quote a panel on
a railing-pillar from the Kadkali Tila, now preserved in the Mathura Museum, in
which a lady is assisted in her toilet by a male companion and by a deformed
slave-girl, perhaps a Kirati, who holds up a mirror before her mistress *. It may be that
this scene refers to the famous story of Nanda and Sundari; but it is also possible
that it is merely a gewre scene. There is no reason to suppose that the lady engaged
in her toilet is anything more than a mortal creature, perhaps a courtesan; or if she
belongs to the world of the amanushas, the highest rank we can assign her would
be that of a yakshipi. The same, in our opinion, may be said with regard to the
female represented in the Pompei ivory.

Professor Mamwri, guided by a marvellous artistic intuition, has rightly selected
the well known railing-pillars of Mathura, particularly those of Bhutesar, as the aptest
objects of comparison. In the freedom of their pose and in the fullness of their forms,
the lascivious nudes which, strange to say, once adorned the Buddhist sanctuaries of
Mathura, are closely associated in style and spirit to the little caryatid which found
its way to far-off Campania. But on the other hand, the latter shows several particulars
of which we are unable to find a close parallel in Indian art. This may be partly
due to the difference of material and to the practical use for which the object was
intended. Professor MArur?'s suggestion that his find may have been the handle of a
metal mirror seems to us extremely plausible. This would account for the curious
position of the two acolytes with reference to the central figure.

It is especially the expression of the face which does not evoke any memories
from contemporaneous Indian sculpture. The profusion and variety of the ornaments
are typically Indian and individually too most of the objects will be familiar to any one
acquainted with Indian art. The rows of rings which stocking-like cover the lower legs
almost up to the knees and likewise the lower arms in a manner more curious than
elegant, are also found on two §alabhaiijik® brackets from the Kankali Tila, now in
the Lucknow Museum?® A still greater similarity is presented by the female figure
standing in front of an Indo-Persian column from Deokali near Faizabad-Ayodhya, now

VV. A SwitH, Jain Stipa, pl XXVIL; Ludwig BacumOYER, Die frishindische Plastik, pl. 95;
J. Ph. VocrrL, Za sculpture de Mathura, pl. XVIe. (/. also railing-pillar in V. A, SmrtH, 0p. cit,, pl. LX.
V. A. SmritH, 0p. cit., pl. XXXIV and XXXV, the one standing on an elephant and the other on

a stooping dwarf. For the former ¢f. my Sculpture de Mathura, pl. Xlc.
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in the collection of the Bharat Kala Parisad at Benares'. Let me note parenthetically
that Dr Coomaraswamy calls this figure too an image of Lakshmi, Why? The caryatid
carries an almsbowl and this object was presumably meant for the reception of the
offerings of the faithful. If so, it must have belonged to a Buddhist sanctuéry. At least
we have here the same arrangement as regards the ornaments on the arms and legs:
a heavy bracelet round the wrist followed by quite a series of flat rings which in the
case of the ivory terminate in a pair of larger armlets. Similarly we have first the
anklet (##pura) and above it the stocking-like row of plain rings.

Some of the Mathura pillar figures offer instances of very elaborate hair-dressing ?,
but we cannot point to any example showing the same complicated and curious
arrangement noticable on the back of the Pompei ivory. It should however be observed
that the Mathura figures, owing to their projecting from the railing-pillars to which
they belong, hardly ever exhibit a back view. In this connexion we wish to draw
attention to the floral horn projecting sideways from the back of the head which is
one of the most astonishing features of the statuette.

In the concluding portion of his article Professor Marurt offers some interesting
suggestions as regards the way by which the Indian ivory may have reached the
shore of Campania. He mentions the two caravan routes: the one which connected
the Persian Gulf and Egypt via Petra and the other which traversed Transjordania
to reach the ports of Syria and Palestine. He also speaks of the sea-borne trade, attested
by the Periplus Maris Erythraei, which linked the Indian coasts with Egypt, and
from Alexandria was carried on to the Mediterranean ports of Italy. It was due to
the maritime policy of the Emperor Nero that this Oriental trade received a fresh
impetus during his reign.

As a tangible proof of these early relations between India and Italy and no less
as a rare specimen of Indian ivory work of the first century of our era, the statuette
which was buried under the ashes of the Vesuvius in A.D. 79 and was brought
to light again by Professor Mamrt in October 1938 is undoubtedly one of the most

fascinating archzological finds of the year to which the present volume is devoted.
J. Pr. VogeL

INDIAN NUMISMATICS IN 1938

In continuation of his elaborate analysis of the symbols on punch-marked coins
(An. Bibl. 1. 4., X, p. 10), B. Durca Prasap has now set out his views as to their ap-
proximate arrangement and dating ®. He classifies them in three periods——early, middle

1 Cf. Rupam, no. 31, July 1927; Eastern Art, vol. I, Jan. 1929, no.3; Sculpture de Mathurd (1930),

. 55, pl. L,
’ 552PCf. the portion of a $alubhaiijika bracket from the Kankali Tild, now in the Lucknow Museum,
reproduced by V. A. SmitH, 0p. c#t.,, pl. C; BACHHOFER, Die frikindische Plastik, pl. 95 and J. Ph. VoceL,
op cit., pl. XV1la-6. '
8 Num. Supp., XLVII p. 51—92.
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and Mauryan. The first, which he would date before the time of the Buddha, from
the 7th or 8th century to the middle of the 6th B.c. are struck to a standard ot
25 7atis (of 1.8 grains) with multiples and sub-multiples. They are broader and thinner
than the later classes and irregular in shape. These are assigned to the kingdoms or
communities mentioned in early literature as existing about this period and he thinks
he has identified from their findspots, the issues of Aémaka, Gandhara (Taxila), Kosala,
Magadha, Strasena and Paiichala, the last being not yet published.

Coins of the middle period, extending from the 6th to the last quarter of the
4th century B. c., are distinguished from those of the early period by their weight which
is 32 ratis, and by bearing on the obverse a group of five symbols instead of four
or only one or two as in the early group. The Bhir mound find and coins purchased
at Ahraura in Mirzapur District belong to this period, which began in the reign of
Ajatagatru and came down to the Nandas.

Lastly comes the Maurya coinage, distinguished from the previous series by bearing
the hill and crescent which B. Durea Prasap, agreeing with the late Mr K. P. Javaswar,
regards as the royal stamp of Chandragupta Maurya. This coinage was struck from
the last quarter of the 4th to the last quarter of the 2nd century B.c., but remained
in ordinary currency till the 2nd or 3rd centuries a.D.

The paper also discusses the meaning of changes in the groups of symbols. It
is found that, while two remain constant, the third and fourth in the early period, and
also the fifth in the middle and Maurya periods vary, and a suggestion is made that
the third symbol denotes the individual ruler, the fourth either a batch of coins or
a regnal year, and the fifth a mint.

B. Durca Prasap regards the marks on the reverse as struck by official testers
not by guilds or money-changers. The number of these may rise to 14 and coins
with a large number are usually worn. The number of marks is a test of the length
of circulation, not of the date or place of issue. These marks are sometimes identical
with those on the obverse, but of smaller size.

Mr Warsa ! completes his notes on symbols and corrections of the description
of punch-marked coins in the recent British Museum Catalogue.

Mr V. S. Acrawara has brought together the references in Panini’s Asktadhyays,
which are thought to indicate coined money, with the interpretations of the commentators *.
Following Dr D. R. BHANDARKAR (Lectures on Ancient Indian Numismatics) he holds
that the uzshka was actually a gold coin. The paper is useful for its quotations but
does not take into account the known early coinage. B. Durca Prasap’s paper described
above shows that the earliest coins have a standard of 100 »afzs, and that the later
silver coins of 32 »afis were equal in value to a copper karshiapana of 80 ratis.

A paper by Dr A. Banerj-Sastri illustrates a copper band, 11 inches long and
an inch wide, bearing at intervals sets of symbols found on the punch-marked coins

1 JRAS, 1938, p. 21—35.
2 Journal U. P, Hist, Soc. X1, 1, p. 74—87.
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which was dug up at Patna, and also a stone slab for grinding which bears two
taurine symbols and a svastika ‘.

Miss Buramar GuosH suggests an amended reading of the inscription on the
well-known coins of Rama Data and Purusha Data in the Muttra series ?. These have
generally been read as bearing the king’s name in the genitive, but Miss Grosn thinks
that the readmg should be ‘— data Sugo’ and interprets this as meaning that the
Suncras were ruling at Muttra. The actual coins do not support the reading.

In his paper on the Bajaur casket of the reign of Menander Mr N. P. CHAKRAVARTI
refers to the discovery on the Sirkap site at Taxila in 1931 of rectangular coins with
svastika, triratna, and other symbols. They bear the name Vijayamitrase in Brahmi
on one side and in Kharoshthi on the other and the Brahmi characters suggest a
date in the 1st century B.c.%

Dr W W. Tarn's history of T/ze Greek: in Bactria a;m’ India is a comprehensive
and no new coins are descr;bed. In interpreting the ev1dence, however, Dr TARN is
more speculative than previous students and often accepts as certain what they have
suggested as merely pbssible. Thus many of the conclusions he draws from the coins
can only be regarded as conjectural. While Dr Tarn has approached the study as a
Greek archzologist, Dr ]. N. Banerjea has covered some of the same ground in a
paper called ‘Indian elements in the coin devices of the early foreign rulers of India’ *.
His thesis is that exclusively Hellenistic gods and goddesses of the early coins of the
series were modified or even replaced by Indian figures, especially on the coinage of
later dynasties. Demetrius II, Eucratides and other rulers struck coins bearing a re-
presentation of Zeus enthroned and, beneath, an elephant facing a conical-shaped object
which has been variously described as a cap or a mountain. Dr Tary following the
Caméridge History of India, Vol. 1, accepts the identification with the ‘elephant god’
mentioned by Hsiian Tsang as occupying a mountain near Kapisa. Dr BaxerjEa
suggests that the god is really Indra with his elephant and that the cone is a st@pa.
He would equate Hstian Tsang’s Si-pi-to-fa-la-tzil with Svetavatalaya = ‘abode or shrine
of Indra’ and quotes passages to show that Indra was specially reverenced in north-west
India. It may, however, be suggested that, as Dr Foucner has pointed out (4. Bidl. I A.,
IX, p. 11), the elephant may refer to the incarnation of Buddha and the sf@pa to hls
death. In that case Zeus may represent Buddha.

Again, where Dr Tarn takes the female figure on coins of Pantaleon and Aga-
thocles to be a Yakshi or other female deity associated with Ningrahar or Dionysopolis,
Dr Banerjea identifies the figure with Lakshmi. Both these views conflict with that of
Dr Foucuer who plausibly suggested that the coins represent Maya, the mother of Buddha.

1 JBORS, XXIV, p. 85—38.
2 Indian Culture, V, p. 209,
8 Ep. Ind. XXIV, p. 1.

¢ THQ, 1938, p. 293—308,
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In an appendix on the coins of Hermaeus and Kujula Kadphises Dr TARN suggests
that Hermaeus, the last Greek king, gave a sister in marriage to Miaos (or Heraus)
and that Kadphises was descended from Miaos. M. Govind Par puts forward a new
theory about these coins.! He suggests that the Hermaeus of the silver coins, consort
of Calliope, flourished before 74—3 B.C., and that Hermaeus of the copper coins and
of coins bearing his name and also that of Kadphises ruled jointly with the latter till
about 50—55 a.0. He explains the peculiar form sferos as soferos, and the syllable su
which follows as a contraction of suzugox and the word yaiise in Kharoshthi on other
coins as equivalent to the genitive of yaiia which he makes equivalent to zexgos. He
thus ignores the ordinary interpretation of the word as jadgu.

Mr R. B. WarreneAD has kindly supplied the following note from materials provided
by Dr Minns:

«Striking numismatic work has been done at Tashkent in the last few years, the
moving spirits being Doctor M. E. Masson at Tashkent itself and Professor A. N.
Zograpu at the Hermitage Museum, Leningrad. Of a series of papers published at
Tashkent on the antiquities of the Uzbek Republic, Number 4 is entitled Discovery
peared in 1933, describes Coin Finds registered in Central Asia, 1930-—31. Pre-Muslim
coins include Bactrian pieces of Diodotos, Euthydemos, Agathocles and Heliocles found
in or near Khiva and Tirmiz.

A monograph entitled Z4e Coins of ‘Heraiis', by A. ZoGrapH, 36 pages, I plate,
was published at Tashkent in 1937 under the auspices of the Scientific Committee
of the Uzbek Republic. The work is intended to be the first of a series of numismatic
studies by Soviet specialists on this region of Uzbekistan. Attention is drawn to
the importance of defining the northern limit of Bactrian Greek currency. A com-
plete account, accurate and fully documented, is given of the interesting coins of
‘Heraii$'; it is a notable addition to the literature of an obscure and difficult period.
The author, working on augmented though not new material, finds that the name of
the king or chief, formerly read as Miaus or Heraus — E. J. RapsoN, Zzndian Cotns,
1898, p g — is still uncertain. He holds that the coins belong to the region north
of the Hindu Kush, and to about the middle of the first century B. c. The reading
of the title KOPPANOY by Cunningham in the sense of the ethnic name Kushan can
hardly be disputed. The other obscure word must be read ZANABOY, which may re-
present an Iranian title”.

Captain M. F. C. Martin has made a fresh study of the coins of Kidara and
Little Kushans® and arrives at very interesting though tentative conclusions. While
Cunningham (ZLater Indo-Scythians, p. 56) placed the establishment of the little Ku-
shans in Gandhdra by Kidara at about 425-—30 A.p., Captain MaRTIN suggests that he
invaded India about 348-—50 a.D. and was subjugated by Shapur II of Iran in 358.

1 New Ind. Ani., I, p. 265—q.
2 Num. Supp., XLVIIL, p. 23.
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Subsequently hé rebelled and successfully fought Shapur in 367—8. Kidara was drawn
westward to oppose the Huns and left his son Piro in charge of Gandhara between 375
and 380. While he was thus engaged, the Sasanians under Ardeshir III and later
Shapur III annexed parts of India and appointed satraps, but Sasanian power was
expelled from India by the Huns about 400. The paper is well illustrated and has full
details of the coins from which the conclusions are drawn.

Mr S. K. Bose describes a new type of Andhra coin'. It resembles the coins
attributed by Rapson to Gautamiputra (B.M.C. Andhras, etc., nos. 59 sgg.) and confirms
his tentative reading of Ra#o Siri Sa(tz), though the type of leaf on the three differs.

A valuable paper by Mr G. V. AcHArRvA summarizes the results obtained from
mcludmg 633 found in the Chhindwara District, three lots with a total of 806 in Lhe
Junagarh State Museum of unknown provenance, and 591 from Vasoj not far from
Diu®. These have yielded a number of unrecorded dates, including 211 Saka, of
Mahikshatrapa Vi¢vasimha which fixes his last year, as coins of his successor Bhartri-
daman of the same year are also known. The Chhindwara find shows variant forms
of the figures for 4, 20 and 60. Mr AcHARrva also suggests that the so-called crescent
on hill or ckasiya mark may represent the moon and the earth.

Mr A. Master considers that the Greek inscription on the coins of Nahapana
giving the genitive form Nahapanas points to an early dropping of the final 2 and
also points out that the letter 7 is represented in Greek characters by NNI°%

In one of the monasteries excavated at Nagarjunikonda were found a number of
small lead Andhra coins of the second century and it is interesting to note that a
clay mould for making them was also discovered *. Similar moulds for making punch-
marked coins and coins of the Yaudheyas were noted in this B7é/iography, vol. X1, p. 7.

Dr A. S. ALTEKAR contests the theory of Mr J. Arran that coins bearing the
names and figures of Chandragnpta I and his wife Kumaradevi were struck by
Samudragupta ®. He thinks that they were issued by the influence of the Lichchhavi
clan to which the queen belonged and that this explains why only this type of coin
was issued by Chandragupta. Mr ALLAN’s other arguments are also discussed.

Mr At Guose publishes a second specimen of the rare copper coin of Kumaragupta I
hitherto known only from the Bodleian specimen® He corrects previous descriptions
and also thinks that the so-called umbrella type of Kumiragupta is really a coin of
Chandragupta II, while three other coins which have been attributed to Kumaragupta
are imitations issued by Hiina chiefs. Lastly the coins of Kumaragupta classed as of
the Valabhi type were intended to pass as silver, being made of copper with a
silver coating.

1 Ind. Culture, V, p. 99.
2 Num. Supp., XLVII, p. 95—09.
8 Bull. School of Or. Stud., IX, p. 710.
+ A. H. LoncuUrsT, The Buddhist Antiquities of Nagarjunikonda (Mem. No. 54, AS.L), p
§ NMum. Supp., XLVII, p. 105—11.
8 JThid. p. 113—6. '
Annual Bibliography, XIII 2
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In the paper quoted above Mr Acuarya has also attempted to decipher the
difficult legends on the coins of Valabhi rulers.

Indian Mr C. R. SmcHAL publishes 122 coins of the rulers of Malwa and two of Akbar

States struck at early dates in that province which supplement the exhaustive account of this
coinage by Mr NevsoN WRIGHT in the Numismatic Chronicle 1932". Notable among
these, which belong chiefly to the Prince of Wales Museum, Bombay, are an early
billon piece of Ghiyas Shah as heir apparent dated 850 a. 1., a rupee of Ghiyas
Shah after his accession, a silver coin of the same ruler, weighing only 13.5 grains,
and a silver coin of Biz Bahadur.

Mogul Some of Mr Nrerson WricHT's gold coins have now passed into the British
Museum. Mr J. ArLan has described the rarities of Akbar including the only known
mohur of Malpur mint, and the earliest dated coins of Ahmadabad, Agra, Jaunpur
and Patna®. Two coins with legends forming couplets commemorate Akbar’s jubilee.

Rai Bahadur Pravac Davar records the acquisition by the Lucknow Museum of
a specimen of Jahangir's rare mokur of Ahmadabad with a couplet bearing the date
15 regnal, 1029 A. H.% To the list he gives may be added a coin in the Indian Museum,
and another dated 19 and 1033 in my collection.

Miscel- To celebrate the silver jubilee of the Numismatic Society of India, which issued
laneous jt5 first number in 1913, Messrs G. V. Acuarva and R. G. Gvant have written a
Résumé of Numismatic Research in India*. In the same number this is supplemented
(p- 139—45) by Mr Wrirteneap who describes three notable collections made in
India, wzzz. those of Colonel C. S. Gurhrie, Dr J. Gerson pa Cunua and Pandit
Raran Narawv. This paper also mentions the other principal collectors and in particular
refers to C. J. RoDGERs. ’ '
The Society has now severed its connection with the Royal Asiatic Society of
Bengal and from 1939 is publishing its own Journal.

Ricuarp Burn

ARCHAOLOGY IN BARODA 1938—39

Listing and In the district of Mehsana two hundred and thirteen monuments were inspected
inspection of and listed during the year 1938—39 and, moreover, twenty-five monuments in the
MONUMENtS Baroda and the Navsari districts of the Baroda State. In date they range between
the 12th/ and the 18th centuries A.p. Among these monuments the most noteworthy
are the Siva temple of Jasmalnith at Asoc_lé,_ the Hingloji-mata temple at Khandoran

1 Jbid. p. 119—138.

2 Brit. Mus. Quarterly, 1938, p. 144.

3 Journal, U. P. Hist. Soc., XI, 1, p. 88f,
t Num. Suppl.,, XLVII, pp. 1—22,
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and the Demarnu Derum at Lakroda, all situated in the district of Mehsana. They
are good specimens of the late medieval temple architecture of Gujarat. The photographs
reproduced in Plates II and III will give an idea of the style in which they are constructed.

Fifty-one inscriptions have been examined during the year under review. Earliest
in date are the inscribed potsherds excavated near Amreli. On the evidence of
Palography they may approximately be ascribed to the seventh century A.p. They
are fragmentary but seem to contain the names of individuals and the localities from
which they originated e¢. g. Girinagara, the modern Girnar. By far the most important
epigraphic find made in the course of the year is the stone inscription discovered at
Gandevi near Navsari. It is a prasast; belonging to the reign of the Kadamba ruler
Shashtha II and dated in the Saka year 964 (= 1042 A.Dp.). It is the first Kadamba
inscription which has come to light in Gujarat. The contents of this. interesting
document tend to show that the coastal tract of Southern Gujarat was under the sway
of the Kadambas of Goa, about the middle of the 11th century A.p. The main object
of the inscription is to record the construction of a mapdapika’ or small pavilion under
the orders of the above mentioned king Shashtha II, The edifice mentioned is no
longer extant but must have stood on the site of the present mart of Gandevi which
still goes by the name of Mandvi; evidently derived from Sanskrit masdapikd. Among
the finds of the year there are two sets of copper-plate grants, registering gifts of
land, which were unearthed in the village of Anastu near Karjan in the Baroda dlstrxct
One of them is a charter issued by the Valabhi ruler Siladitya III from his ‘victorious
camp’ at Dhananda on the 7th day of the bright fortnight of the month of Magha
in the Valabhi year 357 (=676—7%7 A.D.). The other set is a charter of king Karka
Suvarpavarsha of the Gujarat branch of the Rashtrakiita dynasty which was issued
on the 15th day of the bright half of the month of Vai$akha in the Saka year 739
(=817 A.D.) from his capital Sri- Khetaka, the modern Kheda, now the headquarters
of the district of that name. Another inscription of considerable value which was
noticed in the course of this year is a portion of an extensive prasfasti which was
engraved on several large slabs of black marble. Only two of these have been recovered
they were found built into a wall of the temple of Chandraprabha, the eighth 77rtkankara
in the village of Navum-sanghpur in the Vijapur #a/uf of the Mehsana district. These
two slabs which must evidently be extraneous, contain forty-nine verses, commencing
from the 66th and ending with the r1sth stanza, of the composition. If the remaining
slabs could be secured, an interesting document of the Vaghela dynasty would be
forthcoming. The available part of the inscription is in praise of Viradhavala, the
ministers Vastupala and Tejahpala® and also of king Lavanaprasada. It appears from
the contents of the epigraph that the town of Vijapur was founded by one Bahada,

1 In the second praSasti of Baijnith (verse 30) the word mandapik@ occurs in the sense of a custom-
house. £p. Ind., I, p. 101

2 One of the two famous Jaina temples at Mount Abu was founded by Tejahpdla in memory of his
brother Vastupala. It was consecrated in 1230 A.D.
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a Paramara dignitary, in memory of his father Vijaladeva in the 13th century A.D.
This is the period to which the record belongs.

A bilingual inscription fixed in the wall of the fort at Sankheda also deserves
to be mentioned. It is couched in Persian as well as in Sanskrit and belongs to the
reign of Sultin Muzaffar Shah II of Gujarat. The date of the inscription corresponds
to the year 1515 A.D., when Daulatabad was founded near Baroda by the Sultin.

The town of Baroda, which was originally called Vatapadraka, became then known as
Daulatabad.

Excavation The exploration of the ancient sites of Mula-Dvaraka, Amreli and old Platan,

at Amreli yhich was continued during] the year under review, yielded important results particularly
at the two latter places. The Gohilwad-timbo produced again arich harvest of interesting
relics besides the inscribed potsherds mentioned above. These finds consist of Kshatrapa
and other coins of lead and potin, fragments of conch bangles decorated with artistic
designs, and clay moulds such as goldsmiths use for fashioning of »e¢poussé metal work.
Some remains of early brick buildings came to light and were partially exposed. On
the evidence of the relics excavated in the same stratum, these structures may ap-
proximately be ascribed to the second century of the Christian era.

Excavation The excavation of the site of the Sahasralinga reservoir was continued on the

gt Tatan south and north sides, for a distance of 180 and 230 feet respectively. The remnants
of well built structures of stone on the north side and long stone steps on both the
north and the south sides were brought to light. In order to reach these remains a
large accumulation of déérzs to the depth of 25 feet from the top had to be removed.
Well-designed architectural pieces and sculptures in white marble were found buried
in the débris. It is evident that they must have belonged to the sanctuaries and
other structures which once stood along the banks of the Sahasralinga reservoir. The
photograph reproduced in Plate III will convey an idea of these excavations.

Protection of In the course of the year three more monuments were declared protected under
monuments th. Apcient Monuments Preservation Act. Under the provisions of this Act all the

protected monuments are to be preserved at the expense of the State. The total
number of protected monuments now amounts to forty-seven.

Publications Two Annual Reports on the working of the Department, one for 1936—37 and

the other for 1937—38, were published during the year. The Director and his Assistant
contributed several articles to learned periodicals.

H. Sastrr



CEYLON
TAMIL HOUSE-HOLDERS' TERRACE, ANURADHAPURA

About three hundred yards to the north of the junction of the Outer Circular
Road with the Lankarama Road, and in the vicinity of the building called Ratnapasada,
in Anurddhapura, there is a cluster of granite boulders of various shapes and sizes,
among which in the early days of Ceylon's history, the Buddhist anchorites had their
simple abodes. Early in 1939, the writer, while on a tour of inspection, noticed some
hitherto unobserved Brahmi letters on the face of one of these boulders, which had
been chiselled before the writing was executed. The inscription had been buried for
centuries and it was, therefore, not noticed by Mr BELL or any other Archaeologist
who carried out investigations on the site and it was due to the washing away of the
surrounding earth during the preceding rainy season that a part of the inscription was
exposed to view. It was evident that the chiselling of the rock was not done for the
purpose of the inscription but that the inscription was in the nature of a label attached
to some monument. The clearing of the site resulted in the discovery of the remarkable
monument — the only one of its kind, not only in Ceylon, but also, I believe, in
India — described below %

On the northern side of the boulder in question, which is less conspicuous than many
others on the site, is excavated a.terrace 28 ft. g in. in length and 2 ft. 9 in. to 5
ft. 3 in. in breadth. The surface of the terrace, which is about 1 ft. above the origi-
nal level of the ground, is not even, but is divided into five compartments which,
starting from the left, gradually increase in height, the differences in levels being from
1 to 2!/, in. The height of the back of the platform is uneven and varies, according
to the slope of the rock, from 1 ft. 2 in. to 2 ft. 3 in. Socket holes on the sides of
the terrace show that it had wooden pillars fixed on it to support a roof, probably tiled.

The inscription at the back of the terrace is in characters of the oldest type of
the Brahmi alphabet and enlightens us as to the purpose of the terrace. It reads:

1 See Plate IV.
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Tlubaratahi Dameda® Samane karite Dameda gahapatikana pasade.

«The terrace of the Tamil house-holders, caused to be made by the Tamil
Samana, (residing) in Ilubarata’.

This is not the place to discuss the linguistic import of the record, but I may
state that it is in the old Sinhalese Prakrit in which are also written many hundreds
of Brahmi inscriptions found in the island. The word pasade is equivalent to Skt.
prasada which ordinarily means ‘palace’ but in this instance it has to be interpreted
as ‘terrace’ or ‘platform’, so that it can appropriately be applied to the monument
which it obviously refers to. The inscriptidh proves that the stone terrace was the
common property of the Tamil house-holders (g7/a-pati) of ancient Anuradhapura,
and was probably used as their assembly hall.

The unchiselled portion of the boulder between the ground and the surface of
the terrace contains, in one line, seven short records telling us that that portion of
the platform immediately above each record was the seat of a particular individual
among the Tamil house-holders. These records are not very well preserved but the
following names can be deciphered: Kubira, Tisa, Kubira gujata, Saga, Nagata, Karava.
The last-named is described as a sea-captain. The difference in level of the surface
of the various compartments of the platform was probably intended to indicate the
difference in rank and social status of the individuals whose seats were on them. If
so, it is interesting to note that the sea-captain (navika) occupied the highest seat.

The age of the platform must be the same as that of the inscription which can
be dated only by the palacographical evidence. The script may belong to any date
between the third century B.c. and the first century a.p. In this early period of
Ceylon history, the island is said to have been under Tamil rule on three occasions,
i.e. cirea 177—155 B.C, 145—101 B.C. and 44—1% B.c. The platform could have
dated from any of these periods. On the other hand, the presence of Tamil house-
holders at Anuradhapura does not necessarily require Tamil sovereignty over the
city and the monument may date from the reign of an early Sinhalese monarch.

This, I think, is the earliest epigraphical record, so far known, in which the
ethnical name Dameda (Dravida) occurs. The platform on which it is incised is also
one of the earliest examples of the stone work of the Tamil people and the monument
therefore deserves the notice of Indian Archaeologists. It is, however, noteworthy that
the record is in old Sinhalese and that some of the Tamil house-holders bore such
Sanskritic names as Tisa (P. Tissa, Skt. Tisya) and Sujata (Skt. Sujata) which were
common among the Sinhalese of the pre-Christian centuries. These Dravidians must
have, therefore, been much influenced by the Aryan culture of the North Indian
people who colonised this island and became the originators of the Sinhalese people.

S. PARANAVITANA

L Dameda Skt. Dramida or Dravide, Pali Damila and Tamil Zamiél. In modern Sinhalese Demala.
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FURTHER INDIA

ARCHAOLOGICAL RESEARCHES IN MALAYA

We continued our explorations in Malaya throughout 1938 finally bringing the
field work to a conclusion at the end of November after a total of fourteen months in the
country. Since the full results are about to published in the Pournal of the Malayan
Branch of the Royal Asiatic Socety, it will be sufficient here to indicate the nature of
the main discoveries made by us in the year.

In Kedah further excavation produced important finds and did much to clarify the
cultural history of the region. Consequently some modification is required of the pre-
liminary statements made by me in the last issue of this B#éliography. In particular,
with regard to the “middle group of remains’ on the River Bujang which I there described
as Buddhist and existing from the fifth or sixth until the ninth or tenth century of our
era, it is now necessary to distinguish between an earlier and a later period. To the
earlier period belong the remains of a laterite s#zpa which yielded the sixth century Buddhist
inscription which proved to be a Mahayana text; while the inscription from another
stapa near the Sala river (at first thought to date from about 8oco A.p.) was finally found
to be a Buddhist credo dating from the IVth century a.p. and hence a relic of early
Buddhism in the Peninsula comparable to the inscriptions found a hundred years ago
by Col. James Low.

To the later period belong the remains of temples of semi-perishable construction
dating from the ninth and tenth centuries, the products of the wave of Mahayana Buddhism
introduced from India in Pila times. To the site at which a dated ninth century Arab
coin was found in 1937, may now be added the laterite basement structures of two temples
of which the style would seem to suggest that they resembled the miniature temples
reproduced on the Borobudur bas-reliefs, Fragments of bronze images and lamps were found
at one of these sites. In a niche concealed in the laterite basement beside the entrance
to the outer enclosure of the other shrine a most interesting find was made in the form of
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a bronze casket containing, besides infiltrated earth, foundation deposits of a novel kind:
around a small central golden bowl were arranged miniature gold and silver weapons,
also a golden lion, silver bull and copper horse. Above the golden bowl was a golden
lotus and a number of gems and pearls appeared to have been scattered at random.
Probably these miniature objects representéd the attributes and vehicles of some tantric
deity to which the temple was dedicated. Some of the weapons, though similar to those
depicted on the bas-reliefs of the Borobudur, may also be traced on the Ajanta frescoes,
while the small damarz drum is South Indian rather than Javanese in style!.

The foundations of the large buildings, perhaps palace audience halls, situated
higher up the Bujang, which I mentioned in the last issue of the Biéliograpiy and at which
a bronze dagger and two Chinese mirrors (now identified as T'ang products) were found,
may be attributed to this later Buddhist period. This also applies to the remains of a
small brick shrine found considerably further up the river than the highest Siva temple, and
on the opposite bank. Beneath the floor of it were found gold and silver discs inscribed with
the names of Bodhisattvas in South Indian script of the VIIIth or IXth century. The city
that flourished on the Bujang during this period seems certainly to be identifiable with
the Ilangasogam of the Cola inscriptions.

So far as the Siva temples of circa VIIth century A.Dp. are concerned, the most
important find made in 1938 was the roof of a miniature bronze shrine, used probably for
domestic ritual. It throws valuable light on contemporary temple architecture. The roof has
caitya window gable-ends and other features of the roofs of the 7atkas at Mahabalipuram,
S. India, and suggests that the Siva temples of semiperishable construction along the
banks of the Bujang were built in a style similar to the ratkas by Pallava colonists ®.

Apart from the IXth century Arab coins already mentioned, the evidence of Arab
trade with Kedah is supplied by fragments of glass vessels found at most sites from
the VIIth century until the XIlth. It was at one of the later sites that sufficient fragments
of a greenish glass Arab lamp were found for a partial restoration of it to be carried out.

Two sites on the Muda River which are associated with events described in the
Kedak Annals were investigated, with results which threw considerable light on later
Kedah history of the XIVth and XVth centuries and corroborated some of the state-
ments appearing in the A#nals which had hitherto been open to doubt. The most
interesting objects dating from this latter part of the Hindu period were certain frag-
ments of a gold belt embossed with sim/ha mukha of late style, which was hooked
by a boy fishing in a Kedah stream a quarter of a century ago, and rediscovered in
the Kedah State Treasury in 1938.

Exploration carried out in Perak showed that, while evidence strongly pointed to
Indian colonies having been established here as in Kedah, almost all trace of ancient
cities had been destroyed by river erosion and the activities attendant upon tin mining.
Two small bronze Avalokitesvaras found in tin mines in the Kinta valley were brought
to my notice and the presence of these, together with certain deductions which can

1 See Plate V. 2 See Plate VI,
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be made from local legends and other gircumstances has convinced me that somewhere
in this valley was situated the city of Kadaram. Far-reaching conclusions bearing on
the history of the Sailendra Empire have been drawn from these Perak investigations
and will be set forth in detail in the full account of my results.

Further excavations of the deposits at Kuala Selinsing in the mangrove swamps
on the Perak coast have convinced me that this was the site, not of an early Indian
settlement as had previously been generally supposed, but of a village of Indonesian
craftsmen who were more or less superficially influenced by the Indian culture of the
neighbouring city which I have identified as Kadaram. Similarly I am of opinion that
the Perak slab graves and the socketed iron implements are to be attributed to
Indonesian rather than Indian culture.

Extensive exploration in Johore failed to produce evidence of early Indian
colonization, or indeed of settlement by Indianized peoples earlier than the XIVth or
XVth century. Despite the apparent importance of the geographical position of this
southern end of the Peninsula, these negative conclusions are easily explainable by
reason of the unsuitable character of the Johore river valley for grain cultivation,
while the east coast of this state is fully exposed to the N. E. monsoon. The legendary
Black Stone Fort, locally believed to have been situated on the upper reaches of the
Johore river, was satisfactorily disposed of as a memory of old Kadaram transferred
from the west coast of Perak by Malay refugees after the fall of Malacca.

The most important positive result of the work in Johore followed from the
further investigation of extremely early sites on the Johore river where Roman beads,
first brought to light by a local resident Mr G. B. GARDNER, suggested that here
was situated Ptolemy’s town of Palanda. With the beads which were probably brought
by early Indian traders were found large quantities of potsherds stamped with formal
designs reminiscent of the Han ware that has been excavated by Prof. O. Janse in
Tonkin. Though of equally early date the Johore ware is clearly the work of Indonesian
natives and it is known that Chinese potters in Indo-China made use of Indonesian
motifs in Han times.

H. G. QuarircH WALES

RECONSTRUCTION WORK IN THE GROUP OF ANGKOR

The work which the Ecole Francaise d'Extréme-Orient has undertaken at Angkor,
consists of three kinds: clearing and consolidation, restoration, and excavation. The
work of clearing forms the peculiar task of the Conservator of Angkor.

Excavations are executed either by the Conservator, as was the case with those
of Ak Yom?!, of Angkor Vit® and of the Bayon?®, or by members of the School
on special duty, who are deputed to carry out some research work on the spot: e. g.

1 ABIA, VIII, p. 29. 2 ABIA, X, p. 43. 8 ABIA, VIII, p. 28; XII, p. 22.
Annual Bibliography, XIII 3
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the investigations of M. Gorousew around Phnom Bakh&ng® and more recently within
the enclosure of the present Angkor Thom, where he discovered a whole system of
tanks and canals.

As to the restoration work, it was inaugurated by M. Henri MarcrAL in 1930
after he had been entrusted with a mission to Java in order to study the methods
of the Netherlands Archeological Survey. These methods were adopted in the
reconstruction of Bantdi Sréi by M. Marchal, of Prah K& by M. Trouvé? and of
the sanctuaries of Niak Pin and Bakong by M. Glaize, to which the present article
is devoted. |

Nik Pin,?® situated on the North-east of Angkor Thom, in the centre of the
old ‘éariy’ or artificial pond of the temple of Prah Khin, contains four tanks carefully
constructed with flights of sandstone
steps and arranged around a central,
larger tank, the whole being enclosed
by a square laterite rampart measuring
— g 350 meters each way. The four lateral
tanks communicate with the central one
by means of small vaulted structures
opening on the outside, whilst the back
wall is pierced by a gutter ending in
a gargoyledlike head. On the East it
shows the head of a man; on the North
that of an elephant; on the West that
of a horse, and on the South a lion’s
head. On the ornamental pediments of
these little buildings the image of the Bodhisattva Loke$vara is most conspicuous. In
the middle of the central tank, which measures nearly 70 meters each way, there
rises a small sandstone temple surrounded by a circular platform of 14 meters in
diameter, the circular foot of which is provided with flights of steps. The base is
encircled by the bodies of two nagas with their heads erect on both sides of the
eastern entrance, and their entwined tails vertically raised on the west side. Both
the top step of this foot and the basement of the temple are carved in the shape of
an expanded lotus-flower. Until the year 1935 the temple itself was gripped by the
hoary roots of giant banian tree, which scarcely permitted the figures of the Bodhisattva
Lokeévara, carved on the imitation doorways of the South, West and North faces to
be distinguished*.

In 1923% Messrs. L. Fiwvor and V. GoLouBew recognized in the monument of
Nik Pin a representation of the sacred lake which Indian cosmography locates in the

1 ABIA, VII, p. 37; IX, p. 21. 2 ABIA, YII, p. 4o.
3 Henri MARcHAL, Notes sur U'architecture de Nik Pin, BEFEO, XXVI (1926), p. 1.
4 Plate VII, a. § Le symbolisme de Nik P&n. BEFEO, XXIIIL, p. 4or1.
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region of the Himalayas and where the Buddha, the Bodhisattvas and the Sages use
to bathe. This lake, Anavatapta by name, is inhabited by a #Zgw and gives birth to
four rivers which at the four cardinal points issue from the mouths of as many stone
animals. On the East a clear stream proceeds from a lion’s head; on the South a
white stream from an ox's head; on the West a green stream springs from a horse's
head and on the North a yellow stream from an elephant’s head.

The arrangement of the tanks of Nik Pin can thus easily be understood: the
central pond is a representation, a microcosmic replica of the legendary lake Anavatapta,
whose miraculous and healing waters escape in the four directions through gargoyles
corresponding to the four stone animal heads through which the Himalayan lake
produces the four great rivers. In the centre of the lake an immense stone lotus
spreads its petals, enclosed within the coils of the zagas by which the lake is haunted.
In the middle there rises a Buddhist sanctuary, the central image of which has
disappeared, but whose pediments represent scenes from the Buddha's life and whose
imitation porches are decorated by large images of Loke§vara the great Compassionate.

The description of this ensemble would be incomplete if no brief mention were
made of the curious sculpture which is found in the central tank on the east facade,
opposite the flight of steps which starts from between the two n@ga heads. This
image of a flying horse to which bunches of human beings are clinging, was hardly
known before the year 1921, when M. Marchal collected its scattered fragments which
are unfortunately very incomplete.

In their study of the symbolism of Nik Pin L. Finor and V. Gorousew have
recognized in this animal an incarnation of the compassionate Bodhisattva in the form
of the horse Balaha. In 1927 this hypothesis has been resumed and further worked
out by M. Victor GorLouBEW *.

The banian tree of Niak Pdn presented a rather delicate problem in connection
with the conservation of Angkor. Its removal would rightly have been considered an

1 In an article published in 1932 in the EBtudes dorientalisme, published by the Musée Guimet in
memory of Raymonde Linossier (II, p. 481), M. PrzyLUskr was led to study another division of the world in
four regions divided according to the four cardinal points and subject to four great sovereigns: in the South
the lord of the elephants; in the West the lord of the jewels, in the North the lord of the horses; in the East
the lord of men. This theory of the four sovereigns, studied by M. PerLioT with regard to China in an article
entitled Za théorie des quatre fils du ciel (T'oung Pao, 1923, p. 97) is equally known in India. According to
M. PrzvLUSKI, the tetrad: man, horse, jewels, elephant has contaminated the tetrad: ox, horse, lion, elephant.
Man has taken the place of the ox and the result was the tetrad of Nak PZn: man, horse, lion, elephant.
It will be observed that at Nk Pin the human head is associated with the eastern structure, exactly as, in
the theory of the four sovereigns, the lord of men reigns in the East.

2 BEFEO, XXVII, p. 223. When reconstructing this group in 19z1—22, M. MaRCHAL believed that the
horse was to be represented moving away from the ogresses’ island, visualized by the little island of Nik Pin.
The latter islet, however, bearing a sanctuary of Loke$vara, cannot possibly represent the ill-omened island.
It is much more probable that the horse was shown not in the special action of rescuing the shipwrecked
from Simhala, but rather in its general function of saving those who wish to escape the contagion of the
world and seek a refuge with the compassionate Bodhisattva. So it can hardly be doubted that it was turned
towards the sanctuary and that its forelegs were supported by the first steps of the islet. M. Graizg, the
Conservator of Angkor, has now restored the image. In doing so, he has corrected some errors committed in
its former reconstruction and turned it towards the central island.
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act of vandalism. On the other hand, there was the risk of its existence endangering
the monument. Nature fortunately has on her own account solved this problem of
conscience and she has done so to the advantage of archaological interest. In 1935
a storm struck the tree down without damaging the monument and in this manner
a restoration became necessary, which has given N#k Pin quite a new charm.

The sanctuary of Nik Pin robbed of its canopy of foliage, but still imprisoned
in the roots which partly hid it, had completely changed its aspect, but hardly to its
advantage.! The question arose whether it would be possible to give it back, not the
charm due to its association with the tree, but its original beauty, “that pure vision
of the temple at the time of its construction” which M. MarcuaL, not without some
regret, had evoked in his guidebook. As the building was of so small a size and all
its materials had dropped down at its foot, it seemed well suited to that method of
reconstruction which had been adopted at Bantdy Sr&i. In 1937 it was decided to try
the experiment and M. Graizg, the Conservator of Angkor, was entrusted with the work.

It was of course necessary first of all to remove the roots of the tree, the trunk
being dead and without any new offshoot. In March 1938 the demolition began, in
the course of which the stones were numbered and photographs showing their position
were taken. The demolition revealed a very important fact. Behind the elephants
decorating the receding corners of the sanctuary, there appeared, on all the outer
faces of the four projections, traces of sculptured figures whilst the ornament found
on the capitals of the pilasters was continued so as to form a frieze.® It was already
known that the sanctuary had been originally open to the four cardinal points and that
the three imitation porches decorated with large figures of Loke$vara were a later

prasat was constructed on a square plan with four projections, the outer walls of
which were at first decorated and sculptured and afterwards smoothed to furnish an
even surface, on which the elephants ‘were fixed. The latter, being meant to fit in
with the circular form of the basement, have simply been placed against the building,
without any link with the masonry, which explains their breakage and collapse under
the pressure of the roots.

The reconstruction of the body of the edifice lasted from April till June; the
restoration of the corner motif proved that each elephant was surmounted by a sitting
lion supported at the back by a kind of stele with a flamelike decoration.® The month
of July was used for placing the axial steles, the corner acroteria with zzga figures
and for renovating the floor of the platform. The latter work, too, threw much light
on the construction of the islet. An original arrangement of laterite steps (except for
the three top steps, which are of sandstone) appeared at a small distance of the later
one, which is decorated with lotus petals and bodies of nagas.* The void between the
two had been filled in with earth, which has favoured the settling of the exterior steps
and the development of vegetation. It is another instance of those double basements

1 Plate VII, &. ? Plate VII, e 8 Plate VII,d. 4 Plate VII,e.
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which may perhaps be explained from the intention to represent the cosmic mountain,
with its lower part underground.

Thus the reconstruction work has yielded some new data for the history of Nik
Pin, which comprises at least two building periods. The second, the beginning of
which cannot be earlier than the end of the 12th century, is characterized firstly by
the blocking of the doors and their replacement by imitation doors decorated with
figures of Lokesvara and secondly by the transformation of the original cross-shaped
groundplan into a circular plan by adding the elephant figures which occupy the
receding corners.

The style of the pilasters and the pediments is clearly earlier but can hardly be
anterior to Angkor Vat. Before attempting to determine the date of the original
construction of the temple, it will be wise to wait until the work of clearing Prdh
Khén, of which Nik P3n, is certainly dependent, will be completed.

The water level in the region of Angkor having generally subsided, Nak P&n,
unfortunately, is now robbed of that principal charm which would add so much to the
grace of its architecture. In October and November, however, when the water is
highest, Nature seems sometimes willing to present again for some too brief days an
image of the past.?

The temple of Bakong forms part of the complex of monuments called the group
of Roltios® which includes, from North to South: Lolei, Prdh K6, Bakong, Prei Monti,

Jayavarman II (802—854 a.p.), the founder of the dynasty of Angkor to whom
we owe most of the buildings known on the Phnom Kulén, twice resided and finally
died in the capital whose site is marked by these ruins and which in former days
bore the name of Hariharalaya. Most of the smaller monuments date from these two
sojourns.

At the death of Jayavarman II; in 854, his son, third of the name, succeeded
and continued to reside in this capital for twenty-three years.

His successor, in 877, was Indravarman, a nephew of Jayavarman II's wife, who
also lived and died at Hariharalaya, where he left several inscriptions, which allow
us to establish a very exact chronology of his foundations.

Five days after his accession in 877, he began to dig the Indratatika or pond
of Indra, viz. the éaray in whose centre stands the monument of Lolei, which was
built afterwards by his son Yasovarman in 893, before the capital was transferred to
Angkor Thom. In 879, two years after his accession, Indravarman built south of this
pond the sanctuary of Prah K&, with its six towers which were restorated by M. Trouve
in 1932—33. They were dedicated respectively to the cult of his father, his maternal
grandfather and his uncle Jayavarman II, all represented under the aspect of the god
Siva, and to the cult of their wives, represented in the semblance of Devi.

1 Plate VII, /.
2 L, de LAJONQUIERE, fnventaire descriptif des monuments du Cambodge, 111, p. 252—178,
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In 881, finally, falls the foundation of the temple of Biakong, south of Prih Ko.

The study of the foundation stele, which was discovered in 1935 and published
Bakong originally bore a sanctuary of the /Ziiga IndreSvara “raised here”, as the
inscription runs, “on the jewel of the head of the three worlds.” This expression means
that the pyramid symbolically marks the centre of the universe, and that in the
sanctuary, which crowns the summit of this
temple-mountain, like the jewel placed on the
top of the king’s head, the Zinga Indresvara
was placed. This compound contains the
king's name, to which the word #szara has
been added; the custom of dedicating a Zznga
or an image bearing the name of the reigning
king or of the founder, associated with the

ted during the various epochs of the realm
of Angkor.

The monument of Bakong consists essen-
tially of a pyramid of five laterite platforms,
faced with sandstone blocks and measuring
60 meters each way at the base. At the foot eight brick towers are erected. These
structures, comprising moreover some laterite buildings and galleries on the East
side, are surrounded by a ditch, 60 meters wide, dug out between two laterite walls.
An outer enclosure, measuring 700 by 9oo meters, completes this vast complex.

Judging from the appearance of the pyramid it could hardly be supposed that
it had ever been crowned by a temple and towers like Phnom Bikhéng. But when
in the beginning of September 1936, accompanied by M. MarcHAL, I paid a visit to
Bakong, I noticed on the upper terrace of the pyramid some decorated and moulded
blocks which evidently had belonged to a tower now demolished. This observation
seemed to bear out the hypothesis of LajoNQuikrk,? according to whom the pyramid
had formerly supported a sanctuary, completely razed since.®

I then asked M. MarcHAL to have these dédris collected, not with the object of
reconstructing a still very hypothetical edifice, but in the hope that these scattered

it really had existed,

M. MarcHAL at once set to work and at the end of September he was able to
write the following lines in his monthly report:

“ According to the instructions of the Director of the Fcole Frangaise’, with whom,
on his visit to Angkor, we had recognized some fragments of decorated or moulded

1 G. CcepEs, Jnscriptions du Cambodge, 1, p. 31 (Coll. de textes et documents sur 'Indochine, vol. III)'
2 [nventaive descriptif des monuments du Cambodge, I, p. 266, 3 Plate VIII, a.
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sandstone blocks that seemed to belong to a demolished prasif—I have begun a search
on the top of the pyramid for possible remains of the said prasas.

It was ascertained at once that under a layer of earth of 30 to 40 centimeters
in depth the central part was formed by a sandstone floor, the basement of which was
also of sandstone, but masked by a facing of moulded brickwork. This wall of brick
however, did not descend as far as the lower floor and stopped at a filling of sand-
stone and earth.?

When the work of removing the upper layer of earth had commenced I had the
pleasure to state that, at the north-eastern corner where work has begun, a slight
projection from the floor very clearly showed the outline of the foot of the pgrasas
wall. This is a very important fact, which may considerably facilitate the reconstruc-
tion, which I foresaw in case a sufficient number of stones can be recovered; for, the
plan being now known, it has become easier to locate the edifice.

At present it can no longer be doubted that there stood here a sandstone temple.
We have even found a fragment of the pinnacle belonging to the tower. But what
seems strange is the diversity of the decorative elements recovered, the unity of which
it is extremely difficult to establish. There are fragments of pediments decorated with
small human figures in the manner of Angkor Vit or of the Biyon (12th century);
there are devafas, placed between pilasters, who wear no diadems in their hair-dress
but are surmounted by a decorative device in the shape of a miniature palace, little
columns and moulded bands, the decoration of which shows affinities with the gth
century besides; bas reliefs in the style of Bikhéng. It is, indeed, a bewildering mix-
ture of building stones, from which until now it
has not been possible to reconstruct a complete or
even a partial ensemble”?,

The months of October and November were
used for a somewhat special work: the exploration
and clearing of a vertical pit, the mouth of which
had come to light in the centre of the uppermost
terrace. The excavation of the pit at Bakong did
not yield anything of interest. Yet it was not
altogether useless, for it enabled us to solve a
much-disputed question. Were pits of this kind dug
by robbers and treasureseekers in search of the
sacred deposits? Or were they made by the
constructors inside the pyramid? It is the latter
hypothesis which has been confirmed by the excavation. M. MARcHAL writes in his
Report of November 1936: “To a depth of 18.40 meters the walls of the pit are
built in regular layers of masonry and generally cut with a certain care, which once
for all excludes the hypothesis of a pit dug by treasure-hunters, for these people would

1 Plate VIII, 4. 2 Plate VIII, c.
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never have taken the trouble to carry out their excavation with so great regularity”.

When taking charge of the work at Angkor, on the 1st of December 1936, the
new Conservator, M. GrAlzE, was faced by a well-defined task, the main lines of which
had been laid down by his predecessor. The position of a sanctuary on the fifth ter-
race of the pyramid and of twelve small towers on the fourth had been established;
already a considerable number of carved stones had been found on the steps, in the
pit and in the long corridor at the foot of the pyramid. The reconstruction of this
ensemble appeared to be possible, but presented serious difficulties. The stones, indeed,
had been replaced, sometimes re-employed and so were lying very far from the point
where they had fallen or the place where they originally belonged. The stones lying
on the ground (zzz. on the upper terraces of the pyramid) could only be sorted according
to classes, not by divisions of the excavation.

In December 1936 the work began by reconstructing on the ground the
four corners of the temple, showing a series of recesses flanked by broad panels,
which allowed room for four devafas instead of the two usually found on buildings of
this type.! In the mean time the sorting of the stones by classes permitted the elght
entrance p1lasters, destined to match the preceding motifs, to be provisionally put

g - together, and also made possible the more or
less complete reconstruction of the pediments.
This was a puzzle indeed, but still less hazardous
.. than one would have imagined, thanks to the
procedure of decoration followed by the Khmers
who applied their carvings only after the monument
had been built and without paying any attention
to the joints of the stones.’

In January 1937 M. Graize wished first to

| ascertain, by means of a tentative reconstruction
" of one of the corner-mofifs on a corner of the
basement still 2 sifz#, whether the reconstruction
of the whole building would have any chance of
success.® As this experiment had very encouraging results, he resolutely set himself to the
restoration, after having taken down this provisional construction. His first task naturally
consisted in clearing completely the basement of the central temple. It took no less than
two months (February-March) to consolidate the brickwork of the base, to rearrange
the flooring of the upper terrace and to restore the three layers of the masonry
of the basement. Nothwithstanding their worn condition, the various elements of the
very rich decoration can be easily recognized; they clearly belong to the period of
Indravarman and thus are contemporaneous with the foundation of the monument at
the end of the gth century, unlike the temple itself, the decoration of which points to
a period at least two centuries later.

1 Plate VIII, 4. 2 Plate VIII, e,
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On this basement, after it had been restored and consolidated, the rebuilding of
the temple was to be carried out; it lasted no less than a year and a half and oc-
cupied a considerable portion of the year 1938.

At the same time M. Graize undertook the restoration of the twelve little buildings
on the fourth platform, in which he was guided by a miniature model, forming the
top piece of the central shrine, which by good luck had been found among the débris.
On account of their architecture and decoration these edifices can be dated at the end of
the gth century; they are therefore contemporaneous with the foundation of the monu-
ment and with the basement of the central shrine, but undoubtedly anterior to the latter.

While the reconstruction of these small buildings on the fourth platform proceeded,
the work on the temple proper was continued and brought to an end by the placing
of the third storey, where the work had to be stopped, considering that the whole of
the cornice was missing and, moreover, the materials for the fourth and last storey
were altogether insufficient

The work of reconstruction which has been described above differs completely
from that carried out by M. MarcHAL at Bantiy Sréi and by M. Graze himself at
Nzk Pin. These two monuments were still standing, no doubt in a ruinous condition,
but at any rate they did exist; the lower storeys were still ¢z sitx, most of the
stones still lay where they had dropped down, at the foot of the building.

At Bakong, on the contrary, when in September 1936 M. MarcuAL and I noticed
the first carved stones and when we decided to collect them in order to see what
they corresponded to, we were totally ignorant as to what kind of building they might
belong to and whether this edifice was single or accompanied by adjoining buildings.
It is the search for the scattered blocks and their provisional arrangement which
gradually has revealed a group comprising a large four storied temple, more than
10 meters high, and twelve secundary towers, an emsemble which was, so to speak,
reconstructed ex #nikilo. "Starting from nothing”, wrote M. GrAIZE in one of his
reports, "with no other information than the outline of the prasaz on the floor of the
upper platform, it was necessary to select from a chaos of stones those that could
belong to the shrine, to sort them according to their character and to assign them
to their proper places.”

Besides completing the pyramid in a very felicitous manner by crowning it with
a garland of graéeful shrines, this ensemble, which has now been created anew, opens
new points of view on the history of the temple of Bakong. We know now that the
original plan, as it was conceived by Indravarman in the year 881, required a stone
temple on the top of the pyramid surrounded by twelve smaller towers. Of this group
nothing remained but the towers and the basement of the central temple. As regards
the sanctuary itself, several hypotheses present t<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>